1950

William J. Farrell v. The Mennen Company, Smith-Faus Drug Company, Zions Co-operative Mercantile Institution, Walgreen Drug Company, and John Doe : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action to enjoin and permanently restrain the above named defendants from selling any hair tonic or skin lotion or other toilet article in the State of Utah under any trade name using the word "Bracer" or otherwise infringing upon appellant's trade name. "Brace For The Hair, A Real Bracer For The Hair." On October 1,

1949 the appellant filed in the office of the Clerk of the District Court of the Third Judicial District in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah a duly verified complaint (R. 1-6) against the above named defendants reading as follows:

"The above named plaintiff complains of the above named defendants and for a cause of action alleges:

"1. That defendant The Mennen Company is now, and was at all times herein mentioned, a corporation, duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of New Jersey; and that said defendant is now engaged in the manufacture of a certain skin lotion known as "Skin Bracer" and the distribution of the same in the State of Utah; and that said defendant is now doing business in the State of Utah.

"2. That defendants Smith-Faus Drug Company and Zions Co-operative Mercantile Institution are now, and were at all times herein mentioned, corporations, duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Utah with their principal place of business located in Salt Lake County, State of Utah; and that both of said defendants are now engaged in operating wholesale drug companies in Salt Lake City, Utah, and that as such both of said defendants sell and distribute in the State of Utah the afore-mentioned skin lotion under the trade name of "Skin Bracer."

"3. That defendant Walgreen Drug Company is now, and was at all times herein mentioned, a corporation, duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Utah; and that said defendant was and is engaged in operating re-

tail drug stores throughout the State of Utah, and that in the course of this said retail drug business said defendant has sold and is selling the afore-mentioned skin lotion under the trade name of "Skin Bracer."

"4. That defendant John Doe is the fictitious name of a defendant unknown who is now engaged in the wholesale drug business in the State of Utah and is selling said skin lotion under the trade name of "Skin Bracer" in the State of Utah, and that when his true name is discovered, plaintiff asks that this complaint may be amended by inserting such true name in the place and stead of such fictitious name.

"5. That plaintiff is now, and has been at all times herein mentioned, an actual and bona-fide resident of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, engaged in the extensive and profitable business of manufacturing and selling, wholesale and retail, a certain hair tonic and skin lotion in the State of Utah which is an original formula conceived by plaintiff; that in said business the plaintiff purchases the many and varied ingredients used in the manufacture of the said hair tonic and skin lotion and mixes them according to his said formula, and bottles and labels the product and sells the same to barbershops and customers throughout the State of Utah and uses the same in connection with a certain barbershop owned and operated by plaintiff in Salt Lake City, Utah, wherein said product is manufactured, under the trade name of "Brace For the Hair, A Real Bracer For The Hair"; that by reason of the competent and efficient manner in which plaintiff has always conducted and does conduct his said business, the said hair tonic and skin lotion has acquired and now commands an exten-

sive patronage in the State of Utah under the said trade name of "Brace For The Hair, A Real Bracer For the Hair," and plaintiff has acquired and now has a goodwill in said business under said trade name of great value.

"6. That in accordance with the laws and statutes of the State of Utah, then and now in effect, plaintiff did on, or about, the 31st day of August, 1925, file of record in the office of the Secretary of State of the State of Utah his registration of the said trade name, "Brace For The Hair, A Real Bracer For The Hair," and said registration is now, and has been at all times since said date of filing, of full legal force and effect; and that a copy of said registration, certified by the office of the Secretary of State of the State of Utah, is attached hereto, marked "Exhibit A," and by reference made a part of this complaint.

"7. That for sometime last past the defendant The Mennen Company has been manufacturing the aforesaid skin lotion under the said trade name of "Skin Bracer" and that all of the defendants, including The Mennen Company, have been selling and distributing the said skin lotion in the State of Utah under the trade name of "Skin Bracer." That by using a trade name so similar to that trade name long used by plaintiff for his skin lotion and hair tonic defendants have appropriated to their own use and benefit the goodwill of plaintiff's business and deluded the plaintiff's customers and the public in general into the belief that the product manufactured and sold by plaintiff and the product sold by defendants are one and the same article; and that if defendants continue to sell a skin lotion in the State of Utah with the word "Bracer" in the trade name, the customers and prospective custom-

ers of the plaintiff and the public in general will at all times be deceived, misled and defrauded into believing the article sold by defendants is the same article as that which is manufactured and sold by plaintiff.

"8. That plaintiff has repeatedly made demand upon the defendant The Mennen Company to cease and desist from encroaching and infringing upon the duly registered trade name of the plaintiff in the State of Utah, and said defendant has refused and failed to heed said warnings. That unless restrained the defendants will continue and proceed to carry on their business of selling a skin lotion under the said trade name which encroaches upon the registered trade name of the plaintiff as afore-mentioned; that said acts of defendants have created and will continue to create much confusion in plaintiff's said business; and that plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law.

"WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays judgment that defendants, and each of them, be enjoined and restrained permanently from selling any hair tonic or skin lotion or other toilet article in the State of Utah under any trade name using the word "Bracer" or otherwise infringing upon plaintiff's afore-said trade name, and that plaintiff have such other and further relief as to the Court may seem proper, and that plaintiff have his costs incurred herein.

/s/ JOHN HAYS O'DONNELL

/s/ RAYMOND R. BRADY

Attorneys for Plaintiff."

A copy of the filed appellant's application for the mentioned trade name with a certificate from the Secretary of State's Office, for Utah, showing that the application

was a true, full and correct copy, was marked as "Exhibit A" and attached to the complaint (R. 5-6) and to each of the three copies of the complaint served upon each of the three respondents.

Only the respondents, Smith-Faus Drug Company, Zions Co-operative Mercantile Institution and Walgreen Drug Company, were ever served properly and legally with a copy of the summons and the above-mentioned complaint. The Mennen Company and John Doe were not served properly with summons herein and have made no general appearance before the said District Court or any other court. Consequently, we mean only Smith-Faus Drug Company, Zions Co-operative Mercantile Institution and Walgreen Drug Company when we refer to the "respondents."

On October 22nd, 1949, a demurrer (R. 7) was served upon appellant, through his counsel, and filed in Court, reading as follows:

"Come now the defendants, Smith-Faus Drug Company, Zion's Co-operative Mercantile Institution, and Walgreen Drug Company, and demur to plaintiff's complaint herein, upon the ground that said complaint does not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action."

The said demurrer came on regularly for hearing, upon appellant's motion, before the Court, Honorable Roald A. Hogenson presiding as Judge, upon November 8th, 1949. C. E. Henderson appeared and represented the three respondents at the hearing of the general demurrer. Mr. Henderson submitted three arguments

in support of his contention that the demur should be sustained, and these arguments were as follows:

1. Mr. Henderson's self-styled main point was to cite the old general rule that a word or combination of words which are merely descriptive of the subject to which it is applied is not usually a good trade name. Then Mr. Henderson quoted from dictionaries showing that in the eighteenth century the word "bracer" meant a tonic.

2. Mr. Henderson then argued that even though appellant's trade name was valid, appellant's registration of the same is only in connection with its use as a hair tonic and could not effect the respondents who are only in the skin lotion business.

3. Mr. Henderson then argued that because appellant's complaint had the afore-mentioned certificate marked "Exhibit A" (R. 5-6) attached to it and because of the allegations in paragraph six of the complaint (R. 2-3), the Court should not consider the doctrine of secondary meanings, and should only overrule the demur if the appellant's trade name is valid by reason of the same having been registered in accordance with law.

The Court ordered the parties to submit written memoranda of authorities in support of their respective positions on the aforesaid three arguments, and, thereafter, the memoranda were submitted by the respective parties in accordance with the wishes of the Court. Thereafter, on December 20, 1949, the District Court entered its Order sustaining the respondents' demurrer. Naturally, neither party knows which of the three arguments of re-

spondents, if any, influenced the Court when it sustained the demurrer.

The appellant has alleged all facts in his complaint that he can prove if granted a hearing or trial on questions of fact; consequently, the appellant cannot amend his complaint, and, thus, he elected in writing (R. 8) to stand on the said complaint. On January 9, 1950 the District Court entered its judgment (R. 9) herein reading as follows:

"In this action, the defendants, Smith-Faus Drug Company, Zions Co-operative Mercantile Institution and Walgreen Drug Company, having appeared and demurred to the plaintiff's complaint herein, and the issues of law thereto arising having been fully argued and duly submitted to the court, and the court being fully advised in the premises, having entered its order herein on the 20th day of December, 1949, sustaining said demurrer, and the plaintiff having elected to stand on his said complaint,

"Now, on motion of C. E. Henderson, one of the attorneys for said demurring defendants,

"IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED, that the complaint herein be, and the same is hereby dismissed.

"Entered this 9th day of January, 1950.

/s/ ROALD A. HOGENSON
District Judge."

The appellant has prosecuted this appeal from that judgment and order.

STATEMENT OF THE TWO POINTS UPON WHICH APPELLANT INTENDS TO REPLY FOR A REVERSAL OF THE ORDER OF THE DISTRICT COURT SUSTAINING RESPONDENTS' DEMURRER AND OF THE JUDGMENT HEREIN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT.

1. THE DISTRICT COURT IS IN ERROR WHEN IT RULED THAT THE PLAINTIFF AND APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT DOES NOT STATE FACTS SUFFICIENT TO CONSTITUTE A CAUSE OF ACTION; AND, THUS, THE DISTRICT COURT IS IN ERROR IN SUSTAINING THE GENERAL DEMURRER OF THE DEFENDANTS AND RESPONDENTS, SMITH-FAUS DRUG COMPANY, ZIONS CO-OPERATIVE MERCANTILE INSTITUTION AND WALGREEN DRUG COMPANY.

2. THE DISTRICT COURT WAS IN ERROR WHEN IT RENDERED AND ENTERED ITS ORDER, JUDGMENT AND DECREE HEREIN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT.

ERROR NUMBER ONE

THE DISTRICT COURT IS IN ERROR WHEN IT RULED THAT THE PLAINTIFF AND APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT DOES NOT STATE FACTS SUFFICIENT TO CONSTITUTE A CAUSE OF ACTION; AND, THUS, THE DISTRICT COURT IS IN ERROR IN SUSTAINING THE GENERAL DEMURRER OF THE DEFENDANTS AND RESPONDENTS, SMITH-FAUS DRUG COMPANY, ZIONS

CO-OPERATIVE MERCANTILE INSTITUTION AND WALGREEN DRUG COMPANY.

ARGUMENT ON ERROR NUMBER ONE

It is the contention of the appellant that the District Court, when it rendered its decision on the hearing of the said demurrer, misapplied the general rule, which we agree is followed in most jurisdictions, that a word or combination of words which is merely a generic term or descriptive of an article, or trade, or its composition, characteristics, or qualities cannot *ordinarily* be appropriated as a trademark or trade name to the exclusion of its use by others, for the one and only reason that to permit such exclusion would deny competitors the right to describe their goods and wares to the public. As with most general rules, this rule has many exceptions and the word in controversy, "Bracer," comes within some of these exceptions. The District Court entered its Order sustaining respondents' demurrer, just eleven days before the new rules of civil procedure for Utah Courts became effective. These new rules permit no demurrers.

The respondents quoted to the District Court from a few dictionaries, which, in an attempt to impress their readers with the exhaustive scope of the work, had included among their definitions of the word "bracer," an old eighteenth century definition, to-wit: A "tonic." However, all such dictionaries are careful to designate the simile for the word, "bracer," as obsolete, and very few smaller dictionaries even bother to mention this antiquated and long-forgotten meaning. We, herewith, cite for the Court's information from the dictionaries that we found

using the aforesaid antiquated definition of the word, "Bracer."

Webster's New International Dictionary Of The English Language, Second Edition, Unabridged, for 1949, defines on page 322 as follows:

"Bracer. (1) That which braces, binds or makes firm; a brace. (2) One who braces, as in attaching uppers to soles or in boiler-works. (3a) *Obsolete*. A tonic or stimulant. (3b) Slang. A drink of liquor."

The same dictionary on page 2665 defines as follows:

"Tonic. Pertaining to or characterized by tension, esp. muscular tension; hence, producing or adapted to produce healthy muscular condition and reaction."

The same Dictionary on page 1461 defines as follows:

"Lotion. Act of washing, ablution. *Obsolete*. A liquid medicinal preparation for washing; a wash."

Volume 1 of the Oxford's New English Dictionary On Historical Principals, page 1043, published incidently in 1888, even classifies the "tonic" simile for the word bracer as obsolete at that time when it defines bracer as follows:

"3. That which braces (the nerves); hence, a tonic medicine. (a common sense in the 18th century, now obsolete)."

Funk & Wagnall's New Standard Dictionary of the English Language defines on page 322 as follows:

"Bracer (1) That which braces, binds, strengthens, steadies; a band. (2) Something to brace the nerves; a tonic; a common use in theory, 18th century, now slang for a morning drink.

Now that we have shown that "tonic" is only an obsolete meaning for the word, "bracer," we cite from the Restatement of the Law and certain cases and authorities applying the rule that in instances where a word or combination of words has only an obsolete generic or descriptive meaning, as it pertains to the disputed product, the afore-mentioned general rule does not apply, for the reason that the word is not in fact generic or descriptive. Restatement Of The Law, Torts, Division 3, page 580, sec. 721(c):

"(c). A designation is not generic or descriptive under the rule stated in this section,* if its generic or descriptive meaning is obsolete or is known only to philologists, lexicographers or persons acquainted with curiosities of antiquity. Since the meaning is not known in the market, one's use of the designation as a trade-mark does not interfere with the efforts of other merchants to describe their goods. The test is the meaning attached to the designation by prospective purchasers, rather than the scientific meaning."

*The rule mentioned in the above quotation is section 721 on page 579 of the same book reading as follows: "A designation cannot be a trade-mark for goods if it is likely to be regarded by prospective purchasers as a common name or generic name for such goods or as descriptive of them or their ingredients, quality, properties, functions or uses."

Using the test mentioned by the Restatement in section 721 (c) we are convinced that a customer in a department store would be referred to the State Liquor Store and not the shaving-needs, hair tonics and cosmetic counter when this customer told the floor walker that he needed a "bracer." We believe further that no one would recognize a product described only as a "bracer" as being a hair tonic or skin lotion; therefore, we argue that the appellant's competitors are not injured when the State refuses to permit them to use the word "bracer" in connection with their respective products. In short, the ordinary man does not today confuse tonics and bracers as being the *same article*.

We cite the following case and authorities which also apply the aforesaid exception to the said general rule:

"A word which has become obsolete, or which is not in general or common use, and is unintelligible and nondescriptive to the general public, though it may be known to linguists and scientists, may be regarded as arbitrary and fanciful, and capable of being used as a trademark or trade-name." *LeBlume Import Co., Inc., vs. Coty*, 293 F. 344.

"An obsolete word, or one unintelligible to the general public may be a trade-mark even though its technical meaning might otherwise forbid its use." 63 C.J. 345.

Respondents cited to the District Court, in reply to our argument, Vol. 1 of Nims' "Unfair Competition & Tradenames," page 558 wherein Mr. Nims disagrees with the *LeBlume Import Co. vs. Coty* (supra.) case and claims the case is not generally followed. However, the Restatement, *Corpus Juris* and *American Jurisprudence*, among

others, seem to disagree with Mr. Nims and the respondents. We maintain that the Restatement and the other authorities are right, because no one is denied or hampered in his right to describe his product to the public, by applying the LeBlume Import Co. vs. Coty case rule.

In order to prove that the word "bracer" is a proper subject for use as a trade name, we cite now various cases and authorities offering tests and guides as to what words can be restricted—we feel certain that the Court must apply each test favorable to the following question presented by this case: Is the word "bracer" as used in appellant's trade name, "Bracer For The Hair, A Real Bracer For The Hair," capable of being appropriated as a trade name for a combination hair tonic and skin lotion to the restriction of the use of the word by all appellant's competitors and potential competitors in connection with their competing or potentially competing products?

"A word or combination of words which is merely descriptive of an article of trade, or its composition, characteristic, or qualities, cannot be appropriated as a trademark to the exclusion of its use by others. This rule excluding descriptive terms has also been held to apply to tradenames. As to whether words employed fall within this prohibition, it is said that the true test is not whether they are exhaustively descriptive of the article designated, but whether in themselves, and as they are commonly used by those who understand their meaning, they are reasonably indicative and descriptive of the thing intended." Vol. 52, Am. Jur., page 543.

"It has been held that words which are merely suggestive or only indirectly or remotely descrip-

tive of the composition, quality or characteristics of the article, may be appropriate as a valid trade-mark." Vol. 52, American Jurisprudence, page 544.

Certainly the word "bracer" is only remotely descriptive of such products as skin lotions and hair tonics, in fact, under all modern meanings of the word, it is not descriptive at all of such products.

"Names or marks which merely to some extent suggest the character, quality or ingredients of an article, or some supposed advantage to be derived from using it, or some effect to be produced by its use, or the locality of its origin, have been ordinarily upheld as valid trade-marks. The validity of a trade-mark ends where suggestion ends and description begins." 63 Corpus Juris, page 353.

"While it is the general rule that a word which is merely descriptive of the article on which it is used, or of its ingredients or characteristics, cannot be a valid trademark. The rule does not necessarily exclude words which are suggestive of ingredients or quality." *LeBlume Import Co., Inc. vs. Coty*, (Supra).

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