1950

William J. Farrell v. The Mennen Company, Smith-Faus Drug Company, Zions Co-operative Mercantile Institution, Walgreen Drug Company, and John Doe : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

*Appellant has not acquired exclusive rights in "Bracer."*

Respondents' demurrer admits the facts well pleaded but not, of course, their sufficiency. Here the facts pleaded clearly show that appellant has acquired no rights to the dictionary word "Bracer" by its use of the alleged trade-mark "Brace For The Hair, A Real Bracer For The Hair," the only use alleged.

Appellant, throughout his brief, assumes his alleged use of the word "bracer" constitutes a trade-mark use. Such is not the fact under the allegations of his complaint.

Appellant's alleged trade-mark is not the word "bracer" alone, as assumed in appellant's arguments, but is at the very least the combination of words "A Real Bracer For The Hair." As the word "bracer" is used by appellant, in that phrase, it is incapable of acquiring any trade-mark significance. This proposition rests upon the obviously sound principle that when a word is used, not in a trade-mark sense as the badge of the sponsor but only in a sense which is laudatory advertising of the product, it cannot become the exclusive mark of anyone who so uses it. We cite a few of the leading authorities applying this principle.

In *Burmel Handkerchief Corp. v. Cluett Peabody & Co.*, (CCPA) 127 F. 2d 318, at page 321, involving the slogan "Handkerchief of the Year," the court stated:

"In the final analysis such expressions as we are discussing with relation to objects of trade are a 'puffing of wares' and are intended to call attention to the superiority of the advertised goods. Such expressions are a condensed form of describing in detail the outstanding character or quality of the objects to which they are applied \* \* \*.

"\* \* \* We are further of opinion that the notation inherently cannot function as a trade-mark. Such a common expression which can indicate nothing but high quality surely would not be indicative of origin to the purchasing public."

In *Rosenberg v. Shakeproof* (D. C., Del.), 20 F. Supp. 959, it was held that the word "Self-Tapping", as there used by the plaintiff in its label, was incapable of acquiring trade-mark significance. The label is reproduced at p. 963 and includes, as here, the name of the maker of the goods. The court stated (pp. 963-4) :

"The inconspicuous words 'hardened,' 'self-tapping,' and 'sheet metal screws' are descriptive of the character, operation, and purpose of the product. Plaintiff's advertising matter in evidence contains many statements emphasizing the descriptive sense in which the plaintiffs have been using the word 'self-tapping.' The way in which plaintiffs have used the word 'self-tapping' precludes all possibility that the word has come to indicate to anyone the origin of the product. It is likewise established by the evidence that the word 'self-tapping' has never been used by the defendant in any other sense than



in a descriptive sense. It is clear that the word 'self-tapping' cannot be appropriated by plaintiffs as a valid trade-mark."

In the present case, the descriptive sense in which appellant has used the word "bracer" is "emphasized" in the phrase "A Real Bracer For The Hair."

In *Ex parte American Enka Corp.*, a Commissioner's Decision in June, 1949, 81 U. S. P. Q. 476, the facts were stated as follows (p. 476) :

"The mark sought to be registered consists of a vertical gray rectangle having a large black circle superimposed upon the center thereof. Above the circle appear the words 'THE FATE OF A FABRIC HANGS BY A THREAD,' and below it appear the words 'ENKA Rayon.' Within the circle appears the words 'Fashion APPROVED.' "

The similarity to appellant's label and alleged trade-mark is apparent. In holding this mark, and particularly the slogan, "THE FATE OF A FABRIC HANGS BY A THREAD" incapable of trade-mark significance, the opinion states (pp. 477-478) :

"The phrase 'THE FATE OF A FABRIC HANGS BY A THREAD' as presented and used appears to me obviously to be an advertising phrase indicating that the success or failure of a fabric depends upon the thread of which it is made and, as associated with other features of the mark presented, is clearly a laudatory or puffing expression indicating that the use of 'ENKA' thread in a fabric is desirable to insure against an unhappy fate. It would appear that any function or identification in the



mark presented results from the use of the name 'ENKA' in the label, and that, unless used with that word or with applicant's name, or otherwise associated with some other indication of a source or origin of the thread, the phrase in question would not serve as a means of identification of origin. As such it would not appear to distinguish the goods of applicant from the goods of others, and whether or not used in connection with 'ENKA' would simply stand as, and be recognized as, a truism, perhaps aptly stated, indicating the desirability that fabric be composed of good thread. Alone it would not distinguish or identify any particular thread and would seem merely an advertisement or advertising phrase with reference to a potential use of thread, the origin of which must be otherwise determined. While not controlling and perhaps amounting to an oversimplification, it seems extremely doubtful that anyone would order or call for 'THE FATE OF A FABRIC HANGS BY A THREAD' thread."

\* \* \* \* \*

"While, as indicated above, it has never been questioned but that a plurality of words might function as a trade mark, it must be noted that both historically and by common understanding, overlong phrases, sentences or clauses describing goods have been regarded as advertisements rather than trade marks. Somewhere between the few words ordinarily included in a trade mark and the number of words included in a historical novel a line must be drawn. Mere advertising language or features even if attached to goods or their containers, cannot be considered to be trade marks since they are or would be just as applicable to the similar products of any manufacturer and therefore cannot serve to identify the goods of one person or distinguish from those of others.

“Accepting, therefore, applicant’s contention that the question is not whether or not his mark is a slogan, but whether or not it is a trade mark, it must be found that the examiner was correct in finding that words do not function as a trade mark and cannot serve to indicate source or origin or identify the goods of one applicant and distinguish them from those of others.”

*Appellant’s alleged use of “bracer” is merely in a laudatory phrase.*

The function of a trade-mark is to indicate the origin of goods, and not merely to state their function or puff their merits. As stated by Nims in “Unfair Competition and Trade-Marks,” Vol. 1, at page 520:

“The important question of fact to be determined is whether the trade-mark name indicates the producer, not whether it indicates the nature of the goods. It may do both but it must, as its primary function, indicate the producer.”

Since appellant has long used the word “bracer” in a purely descriptive and laudatory sense, by combining it with all the other words in the label, and at least with “A Real Bracer For The Hair”, he can not now prevent others using the word “bracer” either to show that their hair preparations have the same qualities for bracing the hair or for any other purpose. It follows that any seller of skin lotions is free to claim that his product is a “bracer” for the skin so far as appellant is concerned. Such use of the word “bracer” merely puffs the quality of his product and has no significance as to origin in appellant. Therefore,

respondents' use of "bracer" alone or with "skin" cannot possibly confuse appellant's product with respondents' product.

We emphasize the respondents' position is based upon the particular *modus* in which "bracer" is and has been for 25 years used by appellant, as part of the phrase "A Real Bracer For The Hair," because appellant's arguments ignore this point. In commenting on an exception to the general rule that a word, generic or descriptive of the product, cannot be appropriated exclusively, appellant assumes that his alleged trade-mark is simply the word "bracer" and proceeds to cite authorities to show that such a word may become a valid trade-mark when through long and exclusive use *as a trade name or mark* it has acquired a secondary meaning, indicating to the public the source of the product. We do not dispute this exception to the general rule. Respondents did not below, and do not now contend that if appellant had used the word "bracer" by itself, in a trade-mark sense to denote the source rather than some claim of functional merit of the product, it could not have acquired a secondary meaning and thus become valid as a trade-mark or trade-name. But appellant elected to use "bracer" in a phrase and in such a manner that on the face of his alleged trade-mark "A Real Bracer For The Hair" the word "bracer" has only a descriptive meaning. Therein lies the basic distinction between the present case and those relied upon by appellant.

It also is beside the point to contend, as appellant does, that the word "bracer" has become obsolete in the sense of

denoting a "tonic" or "stimulant" and is therefore, not currently descriptive of appellant's hair preparation. Obviously, to characterize appellant's hair tonic as "A Real Bracer For The Hair" makes use of the word "bracer" descriptively, whether in the tonic or stimulant sense or in the sense of that which "binds or makes firm," "strengthens, steadies," which is equally applicable to a hair preparation and is admittedly a current sense according to definitions in appellant's brief (pp. 11-12). Appellant has chosen to use this word in a descriptive sense, because otherwise his advertising phrase would have no meaning or would be deceptive. Having regard to this manner in which "bracer" appears as a part of appellant's alleged trade-mark, it is curious to find appellant suggesting (Brief p. 13) that a customer would be referred to the State Liquor Store if he asked for a "bracer." It would seem more appropriate to consider whether the floor walker would have directed the customer to the liquor store if he had asked for "a real bracer for the hair."

*The L'Origan case is not in point.*

Since appellant's brief makes repeated reference to *LeBlume Import Co. v. Coty*, 293 Fed. 344, we point out that in that case the trade-mark "L'Origan" had been used by itself and not as part of a composite mark or laudatory

---

<sup>1</sup>The following standard dictionaries show that the use of "bracer" in this sense is not obsolete: Webster's Collegiate Dictionary, 3rd Edition of Merriam Series, 1929; Webster's Universities Dictionary, World Publishing Co., 1940; The New Century Dictionary, The Century Co., 1929; Everyman's English Dictionary, E. P. Dutton, 1926; Macmillan's Modern Dictionary, Macmillan Co., 1943; Wyld-Universal Dictionary of English Language, G. Rautledge & Sons, 1932.

phrase which showed on its face that the word "origan" had only a descriptive meaning. The trade-mark owner had used the word in a trade-mark sense, so that it was at least capable of acquiring a secondary meaning, whether or not it was obsolete. Moreover, it appeared that the trade-mark owner had originated the term as applied in a trade-mark sense to perfume. In distinguishing the case, the court in *United Shoe Machinery Corp. v. Compo Shoe Machinery Corp.*, (C. C. P. A.), 56 F. 2d 292, stated (p. 294) :

"The controlling facts of the case at bar are very different from those in the case of *LeBlume Import Co. v. Coty* (C. C. A.) 293 F. 344 (chiefly relied upon by appellee), where the word 'Lorigan' was held to be registerable as a trade-mark for perfume. 'Lorigan' and 'Origan' meant the same. 'Origan' was the name of a rare plant. The principal base of Coty's perfume was not the essence from the origan plant, although it was claimed to be the principal basis of other perfumes. The court pointed out the equities of Coty who, unlike the appellee in the case at bar, was the originator of the term as applied to perfume, and also called attention to the suggestive rather than descriptive character of the term, and applied the doctrine of secondary meaning.

\* \* \* \* \*

"One of appellee's witnesses claimed to have 'originated' the term 'Compo.' Upon this record it can hardly be said that he 'originated' it; at most he only brought it into more extensive use. If appellee's position in this case is correct, a manufacturer of women's wearing apparel could 'originate' the term 'bustle' and get a monopoly upon the term, since bustles, as far as we know, are no longer used and have not been in use nor have they been often referred to in literature or conversation during the

greater portion of the last half century. If appellee's contentions with respect to a trade-mark right in the word which it claims to be obsolete were approved by the courts, the problems of the Patent Office and the courts in determining what words were 'obsolete and forgotten' would increase in frequency and perplexity. A trade-mark, as was held by the United States Supreme Court in *Bourjois & Co. v. Katzel*, 260 U. S. 689, 692, 43 S. Ct. 244, 67 L. Ed. 464, 26 A. L. R. 567, carries with it a monopoly, as far as it goes, no less complete than does a patent. Such monopolistic rights must rest on foundations more secure than those upon which appellee relies."

In sum, appellant does not allege that "Bracer" is original with him, or even a trade-mark use of that well-known word.

*Registration created no substantive rights in appellant.*

Apparently appellant does not now contend that his registration in 1925 under the statute quoted (brief p. 27) was more than a mere "record" of "his claim," as stated in the Utah statutes to the present time. His reliance on the statutes is merely for constructive notice of that purported claim.

It is the universal rule that registration statutes are merely in affirmance of the common law and do not create or confer any substantive rights in trade-marks registered thereunder, see generally, 52 *American Jurisprudence*, Sec. 44, p. 534, and 63 *Corpus Juris*, Sec. 142, p. 470, *Trade-Mark Cases* 100 U. S. 82, and *Armstrong Paint & Varnish Works vs. Nu-Enamel Corp.*, 305 U. S. 315.



*“Skin Bracer” or “Bracer” on skin lotion is not an infringement of appellant’s composite mark.*

Assuming, however erroneously, that “Brace For The Hair, A Real Bracer For The Hair” is capable of being or becoming a valid trade-mark for hair tonic, it is clearly not infringed by respondents’ use of “bracer” alone or with the word “skin” for the well-known and long-established Mennen product.

As pointed out by Nims in *“Unfair Competition and Trade-Marks*, (4th Ed.) Vol. 1, p. 361:

“The cardinal rule upon the subject is that no one shall, by imitation or any unfair device, induce the public to believe that the goods he offers for sale are the goods of another and thereby appropriate to himself the value of the reputation which the other has acquired for his own products or merchandise.”

There follows a collection of representative cases where infringement of various labels, slogans and trade-marks was decided. In none was relief granted where there was as little likelihood of confusion as is here the case, and in many where the respective marks were much closer was relief denied.

Respondents use only “bracer,” one of the ten words in appellant’s composite mark or phrase. Could the public possibly be “induced” thereby to believe that Mennen’s “Skin Bracer” was the product of William Farrell—Hair Specialist? A member of the public in Utah, buying the widely-known “Skin Bracer” lotion, even if he had great



familiarity with only part of appellant's phrase "A Real Bracer For The Hair," would not associate the lotion of Mennen with the tonic of Farrell or with Farrell himself. Something more than the one common word "bracer" would be necessary for such association. If appellant wanted the public, via his phrase, to associate a skin lotion with him or his tonic, he would undoubtedly use the full phrase, substituting "skin" for "hair." The mere use of "bracer" would obviously not be enough to insure this desired public association.

Actually "Skin Bracer" and "Brace For The Hair, A Real Bracer For The Hair" are so different in sound, meaning and appearance there is no infringement of one by the other.

*Even if appellant had been right as to validity and infringement the Complaint is still fatally defective.*

It is interesting to note that, while the complaint, para. 7 (R. 3), alleges that "Skin Bracer" has been used by Mennen and by respondents "for sometime last past," it fails to allege that appellant adopted or used his alleged trade-mark prior to respondents or to Mennen. This seems a *fatal omission* to a cause of action for trade-mark infringement and for the injunctive relief prayed for by appellant (R. 4) because priority of adoption and use is necessary to appellant's affirmative case. Under the statute, *Utah Code Annotated 1943*, Sec. 95-1-6, it is the "person who has first adopted and used a trade-mark, trade-name or device" who is the "owner" and entitled to an injunction and damages

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